
 
 

HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 1 November 2021 6.00 pm 
Committee Rooms 1-2, City 

Hall 

 
Membership: 
 

 
Vacancy (Chair), Councillors Pat Vaughan (Vice-Chair), 
Liz Bushell, Christopher Reid, Edmund Strengiel and 
Loraine Woolley 
 

Substitute member(s): 
 

Councillor(s) Biff Bean 
 

External members: 
 
 
 
Also in Attendance: 

 Mick Barber (Chair of LTP), Caroline Coyle-Fox (Vice Chair of 
LTP), Steven Bearder (Member of LTP), Debbie Rousseau 
(Member of LTP), Sheila Watkinson (Member of LTP)  
 
Councillor Nannestad, Portfolio Holder Quality Housing 
 

Officers attending: 
 

Democratic Services, Yvonne Fox, Matthew Hillman and Chris 
Morton 
 

A G E N D A 

SECTION A Page(s)  

1.  Confirmation of Minutes - 9 August 2021  
 

3 - 8 

2.  Declarations of Interest  
 
Please note that, in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct, 
when declaring interests members must disclose the existence and 
nature of the interest, and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
(DPI) or personal and/or pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  LTP Matters  
 

Verbal 
Report 

4.  Quarter 2 (2021/22) - Performance and Finance Report  
 

To Follow 

5.  Mutual Exchange Policy  
 

9 - 36 

6.  Numbers of Properties Offered to People on Council Waiting List/Others  
 

Verbal 
Report 

7.  Work Programme Update 2021-22  
 

37 - 44 

Date of Next Meeting: Monday, 24 January 2022 (6.00 pm) 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally blank.



Housing Scrutiny Sub-Committee 9 August 2021 

 
Present: Councillors Councillor Gary Hewson (in the Chair),  

Liz Bushell, Rosanne Kirk, Christopher Reid, 
Edmund Strengiel and Loraine Woolley 
 

Apologies for Absence: Councillor Pat Vaughan 
 

Also in Attendance: Councillor D Nannestad, Portfolio Holder, Quality 
Housing. 
 

 
15.  Confirmation of Minutes - 23 June 2021  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2021 be confirmed. 
 

16.  Declarations of Interest  
 

No declarations of interest were received. 
 

17.  LTP Matters  
 

Mick Barber, Chair of LTP advised on the activities of Lincoln Tenant’s Panel as 
follows: 
 

 Estate Inspections were currently being undertaken. He would bring an 
update back to Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee the meeting after next. 

 Mutual Exchanges Lincoln Tenants Panel wished to revisit the Mutual 
Exchange Policy to see if it needed any tweaks. 

 
Yvonne Fox, Assistant Director, Housing highlighted that the Mutual Exchanges 
Policy was set down in law. People could apply if they met the criteria and could 
not be refused. The only discretion within the Council’s control concerned repairs. 
 
Mick Barber advised that there were some alterations to repairs etc which 
required addressing within the policy and requested a report be presented to the 
next meeting of Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee.  
 

18.  Other Matters  
 

Councillor Hewson, Chair, asked why Housing Appeals Panel had not met for a 
good length of time. 
 
Yvonne Fox, Assistant Director, Housing advised that Housing Appeals Panel 
was still available to be called as required, however, the Council had not been 
serving notices of evictions due to Covid 19 regulations imposed by the 
Government and currently the need had not arisen. 
 

19.  Performance Monitoring Report - Quarter 1 2021/22  
 

Yvonne Fox, Assistant Director of Housing: 
 

a. provided Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee with a quarter one report on 
Performance Indicators for the 2021/22 financial year (April 2021- June 
2021), as detailed at Appendix A 

3

Item No. 1



 
b. advised that of the 21 measures, 8 were on or exceeding targets for the 

year (year-end), 10 had not met the targets set and 3 indicators were 
currently not available at the time of this report 
 

c. highlighted that of the 10 measures that did not meet the target, 2 of these 
were within 5% tolerance of their respective targets (Amber rating), and 
one of these represented a year-end target (Decent Homes) 
 

d. reported that over the last eleven years the Council had been working with 
the Lincoln Tenants Panel to improve external scrutiny and to meet the 
standards implemented by the Tenant Services Authority 
 

e. reported that from April 2010 all social landlords were required to have 
local offers in place alongside the national standards as set out in the new 
Regulatory Framework for Social Housing, amended with effect from April 
2012, although the principles remained the same 
 

f. referred to Appendix A which attempted to simplify the overall analysis by 
listing performance on a service functional basis (rents, repairs, etc) and 
then showing the source of the indicator (reason) 
 

g. added that for comparison purposes each indicator showed last year’s 
performance against the target for the current year (where applicable) and 
progress made in the current year 
 

h. referred to paragraph 4.3 of the report and highlighted areas of good 
performance: 
 

 Arrears as a % of rent debit 

 Completed repairs right on first visit (priority and urgent) 
 

i. further highlighted a brief explanation of reasons where we had not 
achieved our targets as detailed at paragraph 4.4 of the report: 
 

 % of calls answered within 90 seconds 

 % of complaints completed within target time 

 Void’s performance 
 

j. highlighted that although there had been many challenges for the 
directorate struggling with raw materials and supply chains, all in all 
performance was holding its own under difficult circumstances 

 
k. invited committees’ questions and comment.  

 
Members discussed the content of the report in further detail. The following key 
questions and comments emerged: 
 

 Question: What was the projected out-turn for voids in the next quarter? 

 Response: This could not be predicted in the circumstances due to the 
void’s contractor having gone into administration which was 
unprecedented. So many people were in temporary accommodation who 
could not be pre allocated into properties as we didn’t know how long this 
would take. We were working to minimise the impact on our customers 

4



employing local contractors to help HRS with void work and by the end of 
September we would hopefully have a better idea of where we stood. 

 

 Question: How did the increase in rent arrears compare against other 
Councils? 
 

 Response: The Council did conduct benchmarking exercises with similar 
authorities, and performance fared well against these. Collection rates 
were down to 95% in some areas of the country, compared to this we were 
doing well at 99%. 

 

 Question: Was the increase in calls regarding repairs down to an ease in 
COVID restrictions? 

 Response: The reason why the volume of calls had gone up was not quite 
certain. Further investigations would be made prior to reporting back to the 
next meeting of Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee. 

 

 Question: The percentage of complaints replied to in line with Corporate 
policy was recorded as down. What was this attributed to? 

 Response: The Corporate Complaints Policy was complex in nature. 
Various information was required including site visits, it was likely to be a 
volume issue. It could simply be it was half a day out of target not weeks. 
With staff not at their desks this could possibly cause a couple of days 
slippage. We kept up liaison with tenant’s meantime regarding any 
complaints. 
 

 Question: The percentage of complaints replied to within target time was 
set at a top target of 70.37% for quarter 1. This was not in line with 
Corporate policy at 98.18%? What was the reason for the difference? 

 Response Councillor Nannestad, Portfolio Holder for Quality Housing: It 
may be that the Housing directorate held a different target to that of 
Corporate Policy which covered the whole authority. Clarification would be 
sought on the reason for the differing figures to be reported back to 
Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee. 

 

 Comment: People telephoning in were not getting the required action. This 
was disappointing, whether or not staff were working from home. The 
target for ‘complaints replied to within target time’ had been raised to 95% 
although actual performance was recorded at 70.8% in the previous year. 
 

 Response: The member of staff responsible for dealing with complaints 
had unfortunately been off with long term sickness. We now had someone 
in place to monitor complaints which would improve performance. 
Telephone calls were often complex requiring further information to be 
sourced and supplied to customers. 
 

 Question: If calls were recorded, was it not possible to pursue why action 
wasn’t taken? 

 Response by Portfolio Holder for Quality Housing: A temporary 
appointment had now been made to fill the gap. 

 

 Comment: Tenants were not always sure which housing officer they were 
speaking to over the telephone if someone unfamiliar picked up the call. 

5



 Response: The Housing officer patches were up to date on the Council’s 
website. If there happened to be a vacancy, then the Area Housing 
Manager would pick up the call. 
 

 Question: Was it possible to include a commentary alongside the 
performance indicators in quarter two giving reasons for their status? 

 Response: Yes, this was possible although this volume of information 
would need to be displayed in smaller type to fit the page. 

 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1. The current performance outcomes during the financial year 2021/22 be 
noted 
 

2. Additional information on reasons for performance indicator status be 
incorporated into the analysis of performance data in future from quarter 2 
report onwards. 
 

3. Further investigations to be made prior to reporting back to the next 
meeting of Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee on reasons for the increase in 
calls and response times/percentage of complaints replied to within target 
time not in line with Corporate policy 

 
4. A commitment to continued reporting on a quarterly basis and to determine 

a programme to have more interim in-depth reviews of service specific 
performance be noted.  

 
20.  Allocations Policy Update - Update on Implementation of New Member Policy 

and Analysis of Housing Register - Update on Numbers in Each Band (Verbal 
Report) 

 
Yvonne Fox, Assistant Director of Housing, gave a verbal update on the 
implementation of a new member Allocations Policy and the numbers of people in 
each band on the housing register, covering the following main points: 
 

 There were 1,222 active applications on the housing register. 

 329 of these were requests for transfers. 

 893 were classified as housing regulation applications. 

 There was a very high demand for four-bedroomed properties. 

 1 bedroomed properties were also in high demand. 
 

 Numbers of People in House Bands: 
 Band 1:  216 
 Band 2:  337 
 Band 3:  1,069 

 

 146 properties in total had been let this year to date. 

 110 one bedroomed properties had been let. 

 1 four bedroomed property had been let. 

 The remaining properties let were two or three bedroomed properties. 

 The majority of voids properties were one bedroomed. 

 There was a slow trickle of family houses with demand far outstripping 
supply. 

6



 22 people in Band A were in overcrowded accommodation, with only 1 four 
bedroomed house having been let. 

 Last quarter there had been 124 lets and 146 as of 1 August 2021. 

 28% of the requests for lettings were applications for transfers. 

 13.7% were housing regulation applications 

 58% of requests for lettings were clients either homeless or at risk of 
homelessness. 

 A minimum of 25% transfer applications must be maintained to allow 
‘good’ tenants the ability to move house should circumstances change. 

 The Housing Directorate was still under government direction to give 
priority to homeless people or people at risk of homelessness. 

 There were 20 cases today in temporary accommodation. 

 Void repairs on properties were awaited. 

 25 people had been matched to a property when it became available. 

 13 people needed a match to be achieved. 

 The Directorate was under pressure in terms of homelessness and was 
bound by law to work to legislation. 

 We needed to give preference to homeless cases and 25% transfer 
allocations to operate within legislation. 

 
Members discussed the content of the verbal report in further detail. The following 
questions and comments emerged: 
 

 Question: If a person was made homeless and couldn’t be placed, where 
did they go? 

 Response: The majority of homeless people were housed in private rented 
accommodation or supported accommodation. Temporary accommodation 
may be provided if required, perhaps through NOMAD or YMCA housing 
association. 

 

 Question by Chair: Was it possible to receive the above data in writing in 
order it could be scrutinised every six months? 

 Response: These figures would be circulated to members of Housing 
Scrutiny Sub Committee. 
 

 Question: Did the definition of homeless people include rough sleepers? 

 Response: Yes, Rough sleepers were included in this group and were 
allocated accommodation in line with policy. 
 

 Question: A number of properties offered to clients were not accepted first 
time round. Why was this? 

 Response: 78% of properties were accepted first time. There were specific 
reasons why properties were turned down, for example, if they were close 
to someone needing to flee violence. Sometimes people changed their 
minds after viewing the property. The reasons for refusal were monitored 
and any issues flagged up at Voids meetings. 

 

 Question: Some people moving into a property for the first time may be 
paying more rent than their neighbours next door having been a tenant for 
some time. What was the difference in rent between first time tenants and 
existing tenants? 
 

7



 Response: The difference between rental costs varied according to 
property components. It could be as little as 50p or £5 dependent on the 
size of the property and local amenities. 

 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1. Further written detail on the figures relating to the Allocations Policy and 
the numbers of people in each band on the housing register be provided to 
members of Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee. 
 

2. The content of the officers’ verbal report be noted. 
 

21.  Analysis of Housing Register - Update on Numbers in Each Band (Verbal 
Report) 

 
This agenda item was incorporated into the previous minute for tonight’s meeting. 
 

22.  Work Programme 2021/22  
 

The Chair:  
 

a. presented the work programme for the Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee 
for 2021/22 as detailed at Appendix A of the report 
 

b. advised that this was an opportunity for committee to suggest other items 
to be included on the work programme. 
 

Mick Barber, Chair of Lincoln Tenants Panel requested an update on communal 
areas as part of the Sheltered Housing Scheme, an item which had been delayed 
due to COVID. 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 

1. An update on Communal Areas as part of the Sheltered Housing Scheme 
be incorporated into the Work Programme in 2022. 
 

2. The content of the work programme be noted. 
 

8



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB COMMITTEE  1 NOVEMBER 2021  
 

 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

MUTUAL EXCHANGE POLICY 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

HOUSING AND INVESTMENT 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

YVONNE FOX – ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF HOUSING 

 
 

1. Purpose of Report 
 

1.1 
 

To provide Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee with a copy of the Councils Mutual 
Exchange Policy and Procedures 
 
The Policy was amended during the Covid pandemic in line with the Governments 
directive to not allow any non-essential moves during lockdowns or at other times 
when the movement of people should be avoided. 
 

2. Executive Summary  
 

2.1 A meeting has taken place with members of LTP to advise on the legal position in 
relation to mutual exchanges. 
 

2.2 Following this meeting LTP members were going to look at the repairs procedure 
relating to mutual exchanges. Any proposed changes will need to be costed and 
their impact on the HRA considered before changes in policy can be 
recommended. 
 

3. Organisational Impacts  
 

3.1 Finance 
 
At this stage there are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 

3.2 
 
 
 
3.3 
 

Legal Implications including Procurement Rules  
 
At this stage, there are no legal implications arising from this report.  
 
Equality, Diversity and Human Rights  
 
The Public Sector Equality Duty means that the Council must consider all 
individuals when carrying out their day-to-day work, in shaping policy, delivering 
services and in relation to their own employees. 
 
It requires that public bodies have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination 

 Advance equality of opportunity 

 Foster good relations between different people when carrying out their 

9

Item No. 5



activities. 
 
Due to the nature of this report, there are no equality, diversity and human rights 
impacts to be assessed however their impact will be considered as part of the 
service delivery at all times. 

  
4. Risk Implications 

 
4.1 (i)       No risks identified in this quarter.  

 
5. Recommendation  

 
5.1 
 

Members are asked to note  
 

 a) The current Mutual Exchange Policy and procedure 
 

 b) Receive a further report following recommendations from LTP of areas for 
review 

 
 
Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 

2 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
 

Lead Officer: Yvonne Fox 
Assistant Director of Housing 

 
 

10



TENANCY MANAGEMENT 

Reviewed by:  
Karen Lockwood 

 

Mutual Exchange 
Reviewed: 

30 November 2017  

 
 

Directorate Of Housing And Regeneration 1 

 

 
Procedure 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 A mutual exchange is basically a home swap with another tenant. It could be a council 

house exchange, flat exchange, bungalow, maisonette or any other property type. 
Tenants can swap homes with any council tenant or Housing Association tenant in the 
UK providing they have the right to mutual exchange and want to swap homes with 
you. 
 
 

2. The Legal Framework 
 

2.1 Section 92 of the Housing Act 1985 states that: 
 
(1) It is a term of every secure tenancy that the tenant may, with the written consent 

of the landlord, assign the tenancy to another secure tenant who satisfies the 
condition in subsection (2) or to an assured tenant who satisfies the conditions in 
subsection (2A).  

 
(2) The condition is that the other secure tenant has the written consent of his 

landlord to an assignment of his tenancy either to the first-mentioned tenant or to 
another secure tenant who satisfies the condition in this subsection.  

 
(2A) The conditions to be satisfied with respect to an assured tenant are—  

(a) that the landlord under his assured tenancy is either the regulator of social 
housing, a private registered provider of social housing, a registered social 
landlord or a housing trust which is a charity; and  

(b) that he intends to assign his assured tenancy to the secure tenant referred 
to in subsection (1) or to another secure tenant who satisfies the condition 
in subsection (2). 

 
(3) The consent required by virtue of this section shall not be withheld except on 

one or more of the grounds set out in Schedule 3, and if withheld otherwise than 
on one of those grounds shall be treated as given.  

 
(4) The landlord may not rely on any of the grounds set out in Schedule 3 unless he 

has, within 42 days of the tenant’s application for the consent, served on the 
tenant a notice specifying the ground and giving particulars of it.  

 
(5) Where rent lawfully due from the tenant has not been paid or an obligation of the 

tenancy has been broken or not performed, the consent required by virtue of this 
section may be given subject to a condition requiring the tenant to pay the 
outstanding rent, remedy the breach or perform the obligation.  

 
(6) Except as provided by subsection (5), a consent required by virtue of this section 

cannot be given subject to a condition, and a condition imposed otherwise than 
as so provided shall be disregarded. 

11



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 2 

 

 
2.2 This means that the Council cannot legally withhold its consent unreasonably but may 

give approval subject to certain conditions being met.  
 
The request may only be refused in certain cases which are listed in section 5 of this 
procedure. 
 
 

3. The City Councils Policies and Practices 
 

3.1 The tenancy agreement sets out the condition for mutual exchanges. This is a right for 
Secure Tenants only. 
 

3.2 4.4       Right to exchange your tenancy 
4.4.1 You have the right to exchange your tenancy with another or our tenants, a 

tenant of another council or a tenant of another registered provider of social 
housing, such as a housing association, provided that you have our written 
permission and the other tenant has the written permission of their landlord. 
Your right to exchange is governed by schedule 3 of the Housing Act 1985 (as 
amended), which states the grounds on which we can refuse to agree a mutual 
exchange. While you are an introductory tenant you do not have this 
right.   

 
4.4.2 You must pay any rent arrears or put right any other breach of your tenancy 

before we give permission for the exchange to take place. 
 
4.4.3 You must not ask another person to make a payment to you in connection with 

a tenancy exchange or make such a payment yourself. 
 
4.5 Right to transfer by exchange 
 You may also have the right to give up your tenancy and transfer to another 

property held by certain other assured shorthold or flexible tenants of a private 
registered provider of social housing or a local authority subject to the 
agreement of the other tenant and their landlord and our prior written consent. 
We can only withhold our consent on the grounds specified in Schedule 14 to 
the Localism Act 2011. While you are an introductory tenant you do not 
have this right. 

 
6.20     Sub-letting your property  
 
6.20.1 While you are an introductory tenant you are not entitled to sublet any 

part of your property. You must not, when you are a secure tenant, sub-let or 
hand over any part of your home: 
� without first obtaining our written permission, which will not be withheld 

unreasonably; 
� at any time when you are not occupying another part of your home as 

your only or principal home. 
 

6.20.2 You must not sub-let or hand over your entire property in any circumstances. If 
you do, you will no longer have a secure or introductory tenancy. 

 
6.20.3 You must not give away or sell the keys to your property to another person. 

12



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 3 

 

6.21  Assignment 
6.21.1 You must not assign (legally “pass on”) your tenancy unless we have first given 

you our written permission and:  

• you wish to assign it to someone who would have been able to succeed 
to your tenancy immediately after your death as explained in sections 
4.6.1, 4.6.2 or 4.6.4 above; 

• this tenancy has become a secure tenancy and you are assigning it under 
the right to exchange; 

• the assignment is made in accordance with an order of the court under 
one of a number of family law provisions governing both partners and 
children. 

 
6.21.2 We will not unreasonably withhold our permission. We will ask you to complete 

a deed of assignment document before assigning your tenancy. You may 
contact us for more information on this. 

 
6.21.3 If we give you our written permission to assign your tenancy you must not 

demand or receive any money for the purpose of encouraging the assignment 
to take place. If evidence comes to light that money has been exchanged for 
this purpose we may take legal action against you. 

 
 

4. Receipt Of Application 
 

4.1 Applications to advertise for an exchange can only be made by submitting an 
application via the Home Swapper website at www.homeswapper.co.uk. The applicant 
must be the legal tenant and have their Landlord's approval for the exchange. 
 
All applications received by the housing assistant on Homeswapper will be approved 
unless the applicant is subject to any of the grounds whereby a mutual exchange 
would be refused (see section 5 - Grounds for refusing a mutual exchange). 
 
If a request to advertise is received in any other way the housing assistant will send 
the Advertise Advice letter informing the applicant how and where to submit their 
application.  If the tenant does not have access to the internet, they should contact the 
housing assistant to arrange a convenient appointment time to attend at City Hall, 
where the housing assistant will assist them.  
 

4.2 If an applicant has already found a tenant with whom they would like to exchange, 
both applications must be received to process the mutual exchange. Use the most 
recent application date for monitoring purposes.  
 

4.3 PLEASE NOTE: 
All letters relating to the mutual exchange process can be found in 
workflow/DIPS/WFM located in TEN-MX ad-hoc letters list. 
The Mutual Exchange Property Inspection Form is located in O:\Tenancy 
Support\MUTUAL EXCHANGES 
 

4.4 The housing assistant will: 
 

• Check applications received from both parties. If not then cancel the mutual 
exchange with the tenant that has applied using letter MX Cancelled No Contact. 

13



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 4 

 

 

• Fill in details on New mutual exchange spreadsheet - Jan 2014 DO NOT USE 
ANY OTHER located in O:\Tenancy Support\MUTUAL EXCHANGES 

 

• Check tenant is secure. If tenant is not secure, refuse using MX Refused Intro 
and TS43A Mutual Exchange Denied letters. 

 

• Check that: 
o The applicant(s) is (are) the legal tenants.  
o The properties being assigned fit the needs of the assignees (exchanges 

should be refused if it leads to properties being statutorily overcrowded or 
under-occupied, or where applicant is moving to accommodation that is 
specialised or adapted in a way that is not needed, e.g. warden 
accommodation, alarm systems or with minor adaptations).  

o rent account is clear. If money owing, write on form Mutual Exchange 
Property Inspection Form and state rent account needs to be cleared.  

o There are no breaches of tenancy. If ongoing situation, talk to housing officer.  
 
If the tenants are not the legal tenants or the property does not fit the needs of the 
incoming tenant or there is a live NOSP on the tenancy for any breach, then the 
exchange must be refused using TS43 Mutual Exchange Refused and TS43A 
Mutual Exchange Denied. 

 

• If external exchange send MX Other Authority Initial Request letter with a pre-
paid envelope (write the housing assistant name on the return envelope) to the 
housing association or council. 

 

• Check all joint tenants are included on the application. If an application is received 
from a joint tenant, with the other joint tenant not included on the application, the 
applicant should be given three options: 
1. to arrange for the existing tenancy to be signed over to the applicant's name 

only (normal rules for transfer of tenancy to apply); 
2. to include the other joint tenant on the application; 
3. to withdraw from the exchange and be advised to arrange for the tenancy to be 

transferred into the applicant's name only (normal rules for transfer of tenancy 
to apply). 

 

• Check the application is date stamped for proof of receipt. If not, check to see if 
any proof of receipt into office and apply date stamp. 

• If exchange agreed at this stage, send TS40 Mutual Exchange Visit  letter to 
explain that housing officer will visit to do a home inspection.  

 

• Complete Mutual Exchange Property Inspection Form with housing officer 
name on, which addresses are mutual exchanging and the date that the form 
needs completing by (15 working days)  

 

• Book appointment for relevant housing officer and relevant maintenance inspector 
in diaries and pass Mutual Exchange Property Inspection Form to housing 
officer to verify the application details and assess the condition of the property. 

 

14



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 5 

 

4.5 A tenant must receive the written consent of the Council before exchanging. The 
Council has 42 days from the date of the application within which to grant or refuse 
consent. 
 

4.6 PLEASE NOTE:  
Where an applicant's rent account is in arrears, or any other breach of tenancy exists, 
then unless there are grounds for refusal, permission should be granted on the 
condition that the arrears are cleared and/or the breach remedied before the 
exchange takes place and MX Conditions Letter sent. The letter should clearly 
indicate the Council's requirements. A reasonable period of time (providing it falls 
within the 42 days from date of application and allows time to check breach has been 
remedied) would be granted to remedy the breach. 
 
Where the breach has not been remedied, the housing officer must serve a NOSP to 
allow the breach to be refused. If no NOSP has been served and the incoming tenant 
accepts the breaches, except rent, as their own to remedy, then the exchange must 
be granted. 
 

4.7 Where an exchange is taking place to resolve issues relating to under occupancy 
charges consent should be granted if: 

• no NOSP has been served,  

• the tenant is making payments regularly even if failing to reduce through lack of 
income  

• an exchange to smaller property to minimise under-occupancy charge is 
requested 

• the tenant agrees to a payment plan through direct debit, standing order, or credit 
union rent account. 

 
Any such request should be referred to the area housing manager for approval. 
 

4.8 An exchange cannot be given subject to conditions being imposed (with the 
exception of 4.5 above) and if one is imposed it shall be disregarded. 
 
 

5. Grounds For Refusing A Mutual Exchange 
 

5.1 The relevant provision for assignments by way of exchange is section 92 Housing Act 
1985 and the specified grounds under which consent to the exchange may be 
withheld are contained in Schedule 3 of that Act. 
 

5.2 Consent required by the Council will not be withheld except on one or more of the 
following grounds, which are stipulated by law:-" 
 
Ground 1 
The tenant or the proposed assignee is subject to an order of the court for the 
possession of the dwelling-house of which he is the secure tenant. 
 
Ground 2 
Proceedings have been begun for possession of the dwelling-house of which the 
tenant or the proposed assignee is the secure tenant on one or more of grounds 1 to 6 
in Part I of Schedule 2 (grounds on which possession may be ordered despite 
absence of suitable alternative accommodation), or there has been served on the 

15



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 6 

 

tenant or the proposed assignee a notice under section 83 (notice of proceedings for 
possession) which specifies one or more of those grounds and is still in force.  
 
Ground 2A 
Either—  
a) a relevant order or a suspended anti-social behaviour possession order, or a 

suspended riot related possession order is in force, or  
 
b) an application is pending before any court for a relevant order, a demotion order or 

anti-social behaviour possession order, or a suspended riot related possession 
order to be made,  

 
in respect of the tenant or the proposed assignee or a person who is residing with 
either of them.  
 
A “relevant order” means—  

• an injunction under section 152 of the Housing Act 1996 (injunctions against 
anti-social behaviour);  

• an injunction to which a power of arrest is attached by virtue of section 153 of 
that Act (other injunctions against anti-social behaviour);  

• an injunction under section 153A, 153B or 153D of that Act (injunctions against 
anti-social behaviour on application of certain social landlords);  

• an anti-social behaviour order under section 1 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998; or  

• an injunction to which a power of arrest is attached by virtue of section 91 of the 
Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003.  

 
An “anti-social behaviour possession order” means an order for possession under 
Ground 2 in Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1985 or Ground 14 in Schedule 2 to the 
Housing Act 1988. 
 
A “demotion order” means a demotion order under section 82A to the Housing Act 
1985 or section 6A of the Housing Act 1988.  
 
A “riot-related order” means an order for possession under Ground 2 in Schedule 2 to 
the Housing Act 1985  or Ground 14 2A in Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1988.  
 
Where the tenancy of the tenant or the proposed assignee is a joint tenancy, any 
reference to that person includes (where the context permits) a reference to any of the 
joint tenants. 
 
Ground 3 
The accommodation afforded by the dwelling-house is substantially more extensive 
than is reasonably required by the proposed assignee. 
 
Ground 4 
The extent of the accommodation afforded by the dwelling-house is not reasonably 
suitable to the needs of the proposed assignee and his family.  
 
 
Ground 5 
The dwelling-house—  

16



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 7 

 

 
a) forms part of or is within the curtilage of a building which, or so much of it as is 

held by the landlord, is held mainly for purposes other than housing purposes and 
consists mainly of accommodation other than housing accommodation, or is 
situated in a cemetery, and  

 
b) was let to the tenant or a predecessor in title of his in consequence of the tenant or 

predecessor being in the employment of—  

• the landlord,  

• a local authority,  

• a development corporation,  

• a housing action trust – a mayoral development corporation 

• an urban development corporation, or  

• the governors of an aided school.  
 
Ground 6 
The landlord is a charity and the proposed assignee’s occupation of the dwelling-
house would conflict with the objects of the charity.  
 
Ground 7 
The dwelling-house has features which are substantially different from those of 
ordinary dwelling-houses and which are designed to make it suitable for occupation by 
a physically disabled person who requires accommodation of the kind provided by the 
dwelling-house and if the assignment were made there would no longer be such a 
person residing in the dwelling-house.  
 
Ground 8 
The landlord is a housing association or housing trust which lets dwelling-houses only 
for occupation (alone or with others) by persons whose circumstances (other than 
merely financial circumstances) make it especially difficult for them to satisfy their 
need for housing and if the assignment were made there would no longer be such a 
person residing in the dwelling-house.  
 
Ground 9 
The dwelling-house is one of a group of dwelling-houses which it is the practice of the 
landlord to let for occupation by persons with special needs and a social service or 
special facility is provided in close proximity to the group of dwelling-houses in order to 
assist persons with those special needs and if the assignment were made there would 
no longer be a person with those special needs residing in the dwelling-house. 
 
Ground 10 
The dwelling-house is the subject of a management agreement under which the 
manager is a housing association of which at least half the members are tenants of 
dwelling-houses subject to the agreement, at least half the tenants of the dwelling-
houses are members of the association and the proposed assignee is not, and is not 
willing to become, a member of the association.] 
 

5.3 The Council can only rely on any of these grounds if it has within 42 days of the 
tenant's application for consent served on the tenant  a notice specifying the 
ground and giving particulars of it. 
 
 

17



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 8 

 

6. Home visits 
 

6.1 Visits must always be carried out to the homes of city council tenants who have 
applied for a mutual exchange, whether it is with another housing authority tenant or 
not, and should be carried out by the appropriate housing officer.  The purposes of the 
visit are as follows: 
 

• To check that both tenants have inspected each other’s property and agree to 
accept the tenancy with the dwelling in its present condition. With a mutual 
exchange, tenants will be asked to accept the property in the condition it has been 
left by the last tenant. The Council will carry out routine repairs in accordance with 
the tenancy agreement, but it will be the incoming tenant’s responsibility to repair 
any damage caused by the previous tenant. 

 

• To check that the situation at the tenant's home accords with the information given 
on the application form in terms of the people living there. 

 

• To carry out an inspection of the property to identify whether the property has 
been damaged by the tenant in any way that may suggest that the council would 
charge the tenant for any repairs. The Mutual Exchange Property Inspection 
Form should be completed during the inspection with a list being made of all 
rechargeable repairs.  

 

• The housing officer should make the tenant aware of any rechargeable repairs at 
the time of inspection, as this would be incorporated into a condition for agreeing 
the exchange. 

• To check if the accommodation is designed or adapted for handicapped or elderly 
use it will still be used for this purpose if the exchange is approved. 

 

• Where special tenancy regulations apply to certain types of dwelling, e.g. animals 
in multi-storey flats, enquiries should be made as to whether these would be 
violated if the exchange was approved. 

 
PLEASE NOTE:   
The visiting housing officer will be required to investigate whether there has 
been any ASB experienced at the property where the tenant is proposing to 
move to and, if so, they must inform their tenant so that the tenant can make a 
judgment on whether to proceed with the exchange based on the fullest amount 
of information as possible. 
 

6.2 Return completed Mutual Exchange Property Inspection Form to the housing 
assistant. 
 

6.3 The housing assistant will: 
 

• Complete date received on New mutual exchange spreadsheet - Jan 2014 DO 
NOT USE ANY OTHER 

 

• Make sure housing officer has booked electrical test with Aaron and tenant 
 

• If external exchange send TS53B MX Exchange Tenancy Report to the external 
council or housing association and wait for their report and decision. 

18



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 9 

 

 

• Check electrical test certificate is received and test passed by telephoning Aaron 
on. Tel Ext. 3682 

 

• When the mutual exchange is agreed, telephone/contact both tenants and arrange 
a date for them both to come in and sign paperwork at the same time. If rent still 
owing, explain the account needs to be clear at time of sign up.  

 
Appointment needs to be no less than 1 week before they move to allow for an 
appointment for gas safety inspection, capping and uncapping of gas supplies, and no 
more than 2 weeks after the decision is made and the start date will be the Monday 
after they move.   
 
 

7. Approving And Arranging The Date For Exchange 
 

7.1 Where both rent accounts are clear and there are no other breaches of tenancy 
conditions, an exchange can be approved quite quickly. However, if problems occur it 
may take the full period allowed. 
 

7.2 All parties to the exchange should be requested to attend the office to complete the 
assignment. 
 
N.B: (In the case of exchange involving tenants outside the City boundary, this may 
not be possible and the arrangement for the date of this exchange should be made via 
the other tenant's Authority - this includes private tenants and tenants of any Housing 
Associations. 
 

7.3 During the joint interview the housing assistant will: 
 

• Ensure  tenants are happy with the property they are taking on 
 

• Check that rent account is clear 
 

• Tenants sign the Deed of Assignment. (located in O:\Tenancy\3. Policy and 
procedure\Assignments (If External exchange, both tenants sign) 

 

• Sign and date the deed of assignment as a witness. 
 

• Tenants read, agree and sign the Mutual Exchange Property Inspection Form 
(If external exchange, only incoming tenant need this). 

 

• If the new tenant is not currently our tenant, advise them of three week visit by 
their housing officer and ask for their new telephone number. If the incoming 
tenant is currently our tenant, a three week visit is not required. 

 

• Give any incoming tenants a tenancy pack. 
 

• Give both tenants a Mutual Exchange Satisfaction Survey with a self-
addressed envelope.   

 

• Remind tenants to inform benefits and council tax of their new address 

19



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 10 

 

 

• Remind tenants to read meters 
 

• Book a gas safety test, gas cap and uncap and advise Graeme Twell, Katherine 
King and Customers Services of date, location, time and contact details of tenants 

 

• Update all relevant IT systems accordingly 
 

• Update New mutual exchange spreadsheet - Jan 2014 DO NOT USE ANY 
OTHER 

 
7.4 The date for the exchange should be set for a time not exceeding two weeks from the 

time of the interview and the agreed date should be entered on the Assignment 
Notices.  All parties to the exchange must also sign the assignment documents. 
 

7.5 YOU MUST REMEMBER THAT APPLICANTS ARE ASSIGNING THEIR TENANCY 
AND NOT THE PROPERTY AND, AS SUCH, EACH PARTY IS UNDERTAKING TO 
TAKE ALL THE OBLIGATIONS OF THAT TENANCY WHICH INCLUDES ANY 
REPAIRING OBLIGATIONS, RENT OBLIGATIONS ETC. 
 
The applicant's attention should be drawn to the section of the application forms 
where they have signed a declaration regarding the accuracy of the information they 
have provided on the application form and the fact that they are accepting each 
other's dwellings in the condition as seen. 
 

7.6 After the mutual exchange interview the housing assistant will: 
 

• Send TS50 Mutual Exchange Letter to our new tenants 
 

• Make an appointment for the relevant housing officer to visit the new tenant 3 weeks 
after the start of tenancy date. ONLY INCOMING TENANTS FROM OTHER 
AUTHORITIES OR ORGANISATIONS. 

 
 

8. Procedure For Exchanges Involving A Tenant Of Another Organisation 
 

8.1 The procedure is similar to that already outlined with some slight alterations. 
 

8.2 It is necessary to obtain a home visit report from the other Landlord Authority in 
respect of their tenant.  It is usually the case that the other Authority would make a 
similar demand for a report on the Council's tenant so send one at the same time.  
 
An exchange would be approved if both Council's concerned found the contents of 
each other’s reports satisfactory.  Agreement for the exchange to go ahead would 
normally be made by telephone to enable negotiation to go ahead and save time, but 
in all other respects the same procedure should apply as outlined in Section 7. 
 

8.3 If a City Council tenant is exchanging with a tenant of a Housing Association, you 
should point out that they are likely to be taking on an Assured Tenancy which does 
not have the same rights e.g. Right to Buy.  
 
 

20



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 11 

 

9  Failure To Execute The Exchange 
 

9.1  If for some reason the exchange does not take place as intended, the housing 
assistant should seek to clarify the situation i.e.:  
 

• has the exchange been deferred to another date?  In which case the paperwork 
and tenancy records are amended accordingly and the Gas Safety test must be 
rescheduled for the appropriate date; 

 

• has, for whatever reason, the exchange fallen through?  This can happen by one 
or both parties changing their minds; in either case the facts should be established 
immediately, and correspondence should be sent to other affected parties to clarify 
the position, (letters TS55 Mutual Exchange LA Ten Withdrawn and/or TS56 MX 
Withdrawn). The Gas Safety checks should be cancelled immediately. 

 

• If only one party refuses to complete the move (see 23 Redbourne Drive, 5 Thurlby 
Crescent).  It is imperative that Withdrawal Notices are sought and under no 
circumstances should a new application be considered until existing exchanges 
are resolved. The Gas Safety checks should be cancelled immediately. 

 
9.2  N.B:  The Council's primary role should be only to consent on exchange and not to get 

involved in disputes, but we must be aware of any future litigation in such cases. 
 
 

10  Mutual Exchanges Without Permission 
 

10.1 Under the Housing Act 1985 tenants have the right to exchange; however all mutual 
exchanges have to have the consent of the Council in writing. 
 
The Council can only refuse to allow a mutual exchange to proceed under certain 
specified grounds (see section 5). 
 

10.2 Once information has been received that two tenants have carried out an exchange 
without permission, a housing officer should visit both parties to investigate the 
background. 
 

10.3 If there are no reasons why the exchange would have been refused, then the housing 
officer should get both parties to complete a mutual exchange application form 
immediately and permission should be granted retrospectively.  A letter should then 
be sent to both parties advising them that they had acted without permission and that 
in this instance permission has been approved.  However, in future, should they wish 
to carry out another mutual exchange they must apply properly. 
 
Arrangements should be made for Gas Safety checks to be carried out at our 
properties as soon as possible.  
 

10.4 If there are grounds which would have prevented the tenants from exchanging, then 
they must be sent a letter advising them that they have acted without permission and 
we require them to return to their original properties within 14 days.  
 
If the tenants do not return to their original properties within the 14 days then a Notice 
to Quit should be served on both parties. 

21



Directorate of Housing and Regeneration 12 

 

 
Once the Notices have become effective and the tenants have still not returned to 
their original tenancies, a brief should be prepared for the area housing manager and 
if Court action is approved then an application for a Court Order has to be made. 
 

11  Mutual Exchange Customer Satisfaction Survey 
 

11.1 The mutual exchange survey is carried out to gain information about the reasons why 
tenants carry out a mutual exchange and how satisfied they were with the service they 
received from us. 
 

11.2 It is important that we collect information about the satisfaction levels of our tenants in 
order to improve our service. 
 

11.3 A mutual exchange satisfaction survey should be handed to the new tenant on sign up 
by the housing assistant and then either : 
 

• collected at the 3 week visit following the mutual exchange by the housing officer, 

• returned in the self-addressed envelope provided. 
  

11.4 Completed forms should be returned to the Resident Involvement Team. 
 

 
 

22



 
Mutual Exchange Advice for Tenants 

20 JANUARY 
2021 

DIRECTORATE OF HOUSING AND INVESTMENT 1 

 

CORONAVIRUS (COVID-19) Stay Safe 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 A mutual exchange is basically a home swap with another tenant. It could be a council 

house exchange, flat exchange, bungalow, maisonette or any other property type. 
Tenants can swap homes with any council tenant or Housing Association tenant in the 
UK providing they have the right to mutual exchange and want to swap homes with 
you. 
 

1.2 This guidance provides advice our employees to support those moving home in 
accordance with the national lockdown announced on 4 January 2021.  
 

1.3 The Government has advised that people looking to move home will be able to both 
continue with planned moves and view new properties to move into in the future and 
that we will be able to continue working 
 

1.4 This guidance provides important public health information to ensure that moving 
home and related activities, such as viewing property, can happen safely.  
 

1.5 We encourage all parties involved to be as flexible as possible and to be prepared to 
delay moves, for example if one of those involved becomes ill with COVID-19 during 
the moving process or has to self-isolate. The Government has stated that it may 
become necessary to pause all home moves locally or nationally for a short period of 
time to manage the spread of coronavirus, and they will advise us if this needs to 
happen. 
 

Page Table of contents 
1 2. The Legal Framework 
2 3.  The City Council’s Policies and Practices 
4 4. Receipt of Application 
6 5. Grounds for Refusing a Mutual Exchange 
9 6. Virtual Visits / Photographic Evidence 
10 7. Approving and Arranging the Date for Exchange 
12 8. Procedure for Exchanges Involving a Tenant of Another Organisation 
12 9. Failure to Execute the Exchange 
13 10. Mutual Exchanges Without Permission 
13 11. Mutual Exchange Customer Satisfaction Survey 
  

 
2. The Legal Framework 

 
2.1 Section 92 of the Housing Act 1985 states that: 

 
(1) It is a term of every secure tenancy that the tenant may, with the written consent 

of the landlord, assign the tenancy to another secure tenant who satisfies the 
condition in subsection (2) or to an assured tenant who satisfies the conditions in 
subsection (2A).  

23



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 2 

 

(2) The condition is that the other secure tenant has the written consent of his 
landlord to an assignment of his tenancy either to the first-mentioned tenant or to 
another secure tenant who satisfies the condition in this subsection.  

 
(2A) The conditions to be satisfied with respect to an assured tenant are—  

(a) that the landlord under his assured tenancy is either the regulator of social 
housing, a private registered provider of social housing, a registered social 
landlord or a housing trust which is a charity; and  

(b) that he intends to assign his assured tenancy to the secure tenant referred 
to in subsection (1) or to another secure tenant who satisfies the condition 
in subsection (2). 

(3) The consent required by virtue of this section shall not be withheld except on 
one or more of the grounds set out in Schedule 3, and if withheld otherwise than 
on one of those grounds shall be treated as given.  

 
(4) The landlord may not rely on any of the grounds set out in Schedule 3 unless he 

has, within 42 days of the tenant’s application for the consent, served on the 
tenant a notice specifying the ground and giving particulars of it.  

 
(5) Where rent lawfully due from the tenant has not been paid or an obligation of the 

tenancy has been broken or not performed, the consent required by virtue of this 
section may be given subject to a condition requiring the tenant to pay the 
outstanding rent, remedy the breach or perform the obligation.  

 
(6) Except as provided by subsection (5), a consent required by virtue of this section 

cannot be given subject to a condition, and a condition imposed otherwise than 
as so provided shall be disregarded. 

 
2.2 This means that the Council cannot legally withhold its consent unreasonably but may 

give approval subject to certain conditions being met. The request may only be 
refused in certain cases which are listed in Section 5 of this procedure. 
 

All requests to move through Mutual Exchange must be approved by the Assistant 
Director of Housing or the Tenancy Services Manager 

 
In contradiction to 2.2, whilst we will not withhold consent unreasonably or refuse a move, we 

may defer any requests where the move is not essential 

  
  
3. The City Councils Policies and Practices 

 
3.1 The tenancy agreement sets out the condition for mutual exchanges. This is a right for 

Secure Tenants only. 
 

3.2 4.4       Right to exchange your tenancy 
4.4.1 You have the right to exchange your tenancy with another or our tenants, a 

tenant of another council or a tenant of another registered provider of social 
housing, such as a housing association, provided that you have our written 
permission and the other tenant has the written permission of their landlord. 
Your right to exchange is governed by schedule 3 of the Housing Act 1985 (as 
amended), which states the grounds on which we can refuse to agree a mutual 

24



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 3 

 

exchange. While you are an introductory tenant you do not have this 
right.   

 
4.4.2 You must pay any rent arrears or put right any other breach of your tenancy 

before we give permission for the exchange to take place. 
 
4.4.3 You must not ask another person to make a payment to you in connection with 

a tenancy exchange or make such a payment yourself. 
 
4.5 Right to transfer by exchange 
 You may also have the right to give up your tenancy and transfer to another 

property held by certain other assured shorthold or flexible tenants of a private 
registered provider of social housing or a local authority subject to the 
agreement of the other tenant and their landlord and our prior written consent. 
We can only withhold our consent on the grounds specified in Schedule 14 to 
the Localism Act 2011. While you are an introductory tenant you do not 
have this right. 

 
6.20    Sub-letting your property  
6.20.1 While you are an introductory tenant you are not entitled to sublet any 

part of your property. You must not, when you are a secure tenant, sub-let or 
hand over any part of your home: 
 without first obtaining our written permission, which will not be withheld 

unreasonably; 
 at any time when you are not occupying another part of your home as 

your only or principal home. 
 

6.20.2 You must not sub-let or hand over your entire property in any circumstances. If 
you do, you will no longer have a secure or introductory tenancy. 

 
6.20.3 You must not give away or sell the keys to your property to another person. 

 
6.21  Assignment 
6.21.1 You must not assign (legally “pass on”) your tenancy unless we have first given 

you our written permission and:  
 you wish to assign it to someone who would have been able to succeed 

to your tenancy immediately after your death as explained in sections 
4.6.1, 4.6.2 or 4.6.4 above; 

 this tenancy has become a secure tenancy and you are assigning it under 
the right to exchange; 

 the assignment is made in accordance with an order of the court under 
one of a number of family law provisions governing both partners and 
children. 

 
6.21.2 We will not unreasonably withhold our permission. We will ask you to complete 

a deed of assignment document before assigning your tenancy. You may 
contact us for more information on this. 

 
6.21.3 If we give you our written permission to assign your tenancy you must not 

demand or receive any money for the purpose of encouraging the assignment 
to take place. If evidence comes to light that money has been exchanged for 
this purpose we may take legal action against you. 

25



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 4 

 

4. Receipt of Application 
 

4.1 Applications to advertise for an exchange can only be made by submitting an 
application via the Home Swapper website at www.homeswapper.co.uk. The applicant 
must be the legal tenant and have their Landlord's approval for the exchange. 
 
All applications received by the Housing Assistant on Homeswapper will be approved 
unless the applicant is subject to any of the grounds whereby a mutual exchange 
would be refused (see section 5 - Grounds for refusing a mutual exchange). 
 
If a request to advertise is received in any other way the Housing Assistant will send 
the Advertise Advice letter informing the applicant how and where to submit their 
application.  If the tenant does not have access to the internet, they should contact the 
Housing Assistant to arrange a convenient appointment time to attend at City Hall, 
where the Housing Assistant will assist them.  
 

4.2 If an applicant has already found a tenant with whom they would like to exchange, 
both applications must be received to process the mutual exchange. Use the most 
recent application date for monitoring purposes.  
 

4.3 PLEASE NOTE: 
All letters relating to the mutual exchange process can be found in 
workflow/DIPS/WFM located in TEN-MX ad-hoc letters list. 
The Mutual Exchange Property Inspection Form is located in O:\Tenancy 
Support\MUTUAL EXCHANGES 
 

4.4 The Housing Assistant will: 
 
 Check applications received from both parties. If not then cancel the mutual 

exchange with the tenant that has applied using letter MX Cancelled No Contact. 
 
 Fill in details on New mutual exchange spreadsheet - Jan 2014 DO NOT USE 

ANY OTHER located in O:\Tenancy Support\MUTUAL EXCHANGES 
 
 Check tenant is secure. If tenant is not secure, refuse using MX Refused Intro 

and TS43A Mutual Exchange Denied letters. 
 
 Check that: 

o The applicant(s) is (are) the legal tenants.  
o The properties being assigned fit the needs of the assignees (exchanges 

should be refused if it leads to properties being statutorily overcrowded or 
under-occupied, or where applicant is moving to accommodation that is 
specialised or adapted in a way that is not needed, e.g. warden 
accommodation, alarm systems or with minor adaptations).  

o rent account is clear. If money owing, write on form Mutual Exchange 
Property Inspection Form and state rent account needs to be cleared.  

o There are no breaches of tenancy. If ongoing situation, talk to Housing Officer.  
 
If the tenants are not the legal tenants or the property does not fit the needs of the 
incoming tenant or there is a live NOSP on the tenancy for any breach, then the 
exchange must be refused using TS43 Mutual Exchange Refused and TS43A 
Mutual Exchange Denied. 

26



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 5 

 

 If external exchange send MX Other Authority Initial Request letter with a pre-
paid envelope (write the Housing Assistant name on the return envelope) to the 
housing association or council. 

 
 Check all joint tenants are included on the application. If an application is received 

from a joint tenant, with the other joint tenant not included on the application, the 
applicant should be given three options: 
1. to arrange for the existing tenancy to be signed over to the applicant's name 

only (normal rules for transfer of tenancy to apply); 
2. to include the other joint tenant on the application; 
3. to withdraw from the exchange and be advised to arrange for the tenancy to be 

transferred into the applicant's name only (normal rules for transfer of tenancy 
to apply). 

 
 Check the application is date stamped for proof of receipt. If not, check to see if 

any proof of receipt into office and apply date stamp. 
 

 If exchange agreed at this stage, refer to Housing Officer to assess whether the 
exchange is required. 

 
The Housing Officer will: 

 
 Assess whether it is essential that the exchange occurs immediately due to health 

conditions or vulnerabilities. 
 

 If the exchange is essential, complete the Mutual Exchange Covid-19 Essential 
Move Request Form and send to Assistant Director for Housing and the Tenancy 
Services Manager for approval.  
 

 If approval is granted, the Housing Officer will refer back to the Housing Assistant 
to contact the applicants to go through the Mutual Exchange Advice for Tenants. 
 

 The Housing Assistant will (IF NOT APPROVED): 
 
 Due to Covid-19, contact the applicants to advise that we are unable to allow 

them to move at this time and that there application is on hold. Advise the 
applicants we will contact them again when the moves can take place  

 
The Housing Assistant will (IF APPROVED): 
 
 Complete Mutual Exchange Property Inspection Form with Housing Officer 

name on, which addresses are mutual exchanging and the date that the form 
needs completing by (15 working days) 

 Contact the applicants to go through the Mutual Exchange Advice for Tenants  
 
 Arrange an appointment for the virtual Property inspection to be completed by the 

Housing Officer 

 Book appointment in the Housing Officers calendar for the virtual viewings and 
advise the Housing Officer by email. If the tenant is not able to carry out a virtual 

27



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 6 

 

viewing, then the Housing Assistant will inform the tenant that they will need to 
send photos for all rooms to include walls, doors, cupboards, fittings, garden, 
fences, etc. to tenancylandlordservices@lincoln.gov.uk or the Housing Assistant 
dealing with your exchange. These will be needed prior to any decision being 
made. 

 
4.5 A tenant must receive the written consent of the Council before exchanging. The 

Council has 42 days from the date of the application within which to grant or refuse 
consent. 
 

4.6 PLEASE NOTE:  
Where an applicant's rent account is in arrears, or any other breach of tenancy exists, 
then unless there are grounds for refusal, permission should be granted on the 
condition that the arrears are cleared and/or the breach remedied before the 
exchange takes place and MX Conditions Letter sent. The letter should clearly 
indicate the Council's requirements. A reasonable period of time (providing it falls 
within the 42 days from date of application and allows time to check breach has been 
remedied) would be granted to remedy the breach. 
 
Where the breach has not been remedied, the Housing Officer must serve a NOSP to 
allow the breach to be refused. If no NOSP has been served and the incoming tenant 
accepts the breaches, except rent, as their own to remedy, then the exchange must 
be granted. 
 

4.7 Where an exchange is taking place to resolve issues relating to under occupancy 
charges consent should be granted if: 
 no NOSP has been served,  
 the tenant is making payments regularly even if failing to reduce through lack of 

income  
 an exchange to smaller property to minimise under-occupancy charge is 

requested 
 the tenant agrees to a payment plan through direct debit, standing order, or credit 

union rent account. 
 
Any such request should be referred to the area housing manager for approval. 
 

4.8 An exchange cannot be given subject to conditions being imposed (with the 
exception of 4.5 above) and if one is imposed it shall be disregarded. 
 
 

5. Grounds for Refusing a Mutual Exchange 
 

5.1 The relevant provision for assignments by way of exchange is section 92 Housing Act 
1985 and the specified grounds under which consent to the exchange may be 
withheld are contained in Schedule 3 of that Act. 
 

5.2 Consent required by the Council will not be withheld except on one or more of the 
following grounds, which are stipulated by law:-" 
 
Ground 1 
The tenant or the proposed assignee is subject to an order of the court for the 
possession of the dwelling-house of which he is the secure tenant. 

28



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 7 

 

 
Ground 2 
Proceedings have been begun for possession of the dwelling-house of which the 
tenant or the proposed assignee is the secure tenant on one or more of grounds 1 to 6 
in Part I of Schedule 2 (grounds on which possession may be ordered despite 
absence of suitable alternative accommodation), or there has been served on the 
tenant or the proposed assignee a notice under section 83 (notice of proceedings for 
possession) which specifies one or more of those grounds and is still in force.  
 
Ground 2A 
Either—  
a) a relevant order or a suspended anti-social behaviour possession order, or a 

suspended riot related possession order is in force, or  
 
b) an application is pending before any court for a relevant order, a demotion order or 

anti-social behaviour possession order, or a suspended riot related possession 
order to be made,  

 
in respect of the tenant or the proposed assignee or a person who is residing with 
either of them.  
 
A “relevant order” means—  

 an injunction under section 152 of the Housing Act 1996 (injunctions against 
anti-social behaviour);  

 an injunction to which a power of arrest is attached by virtue of section 153 of 
that Act (other injunctions against anti-social behaviour);  

 an injunction under section 153A, 153B or 153D of that Act (injunctions against 
anti-social behaviour on application of certain social landlords);  

 an anti-social behaviour order under section 1 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998; or  

 an injunction to which a power of arrest is attached by virtue of section 91 of the 
Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003.  

 
An “anti-social behaviour possession order” means an order for possession under 
Ground 2 in Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1985 or Ground 14 in Schedule 2 to the 
Housing Act 1988. 
 
A “demotion order” means a demotion order under section 82A to the Housing Act 
1985 or section 6A of the Housing Act 1988.  
 
A “riot-related order” means an order for possession under Ground 2 in Schedule 2 to 
the Housing Act 1985  or Ground 14 2A in Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1988.  
 
Where the tenancy of the tenant or the proposed assignee is a joint tenancy, any 
reference to that person includes (where the context permits) a reference to any of the 
joint tenants. 
 
Ground 3 
The accommodation afforded by the dwelling-house is substantially more extensive 
than is reasonably required by the proposed assignee. 
 

29



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 8 

 

Ground 4 
The extent of the accommodation afforded by the dwelling-house is not reasonably 
suitable to the needs of the proposed assignee and his family.  
 
Ground 5 
The dwelling-house—  
 
a) forms part of or is within the curtilage of a building which, or so much of it as is 

held by the landlord, is held mainly for purposes other than housing purposes and 
consists mainly of accommodation other than housing accommodation, or is 
situated in a cemetery, and  

 
b) was let to the tenant or a predecessor in title of his in consequence of the tenant or 

predecessor being in the employment of—  
 the landlord,  
 a local authority,  
 a development corporation,  
 a housing action trust – a mayoral development corporation 
 an urban development corporation, or  
 the governors of an aided school.  

 
Ground 6 
The landlord is a charity and the proposed assignee’s occupation of the dwelling-
house would conflict with the objects of the charity.  
 
Ground 7 
The dwelling-house has features which are substantially different from those of 
ordinary dwelling-houses and which are designed to make it suitable for occupation by 
a physically disabled person who requires accommodation of the kind provided by the 
dwelling-house and if the assignment were made there would no longer be such a 
person residing in the dwelling-house.  
 
Ground 8 
The landlord is a housing association or housing trust which lets dwelling-houses only 
for occupation (alone or with others) by persons whose circumstances (other than 
merely financial circumstances) make it especially difficult for them to satisfy their 
need for housing and if the assignment were made there would no longer be such a 
person residing in the dwelling-house.  
 
Ground 9 
The dwelling-house is one of a group of dwelling-houses which it is the practice of the 
landlord to let for occupation by persons with special needs and a social service or 
special facility is provided in close proximity to the group of dwelling-houses in order to 
assist persons with those special needs and if the assignment were made there would 
no longer be a person with those special needs residing in the dwelling-house. 
 
Ground 10 
The dwelling-house is the subject of a management agreement under which the 
manager is a housing association of which at least half the members are tenants of 
dwelling-houses subject to the agreement, at least half the tenants of the dwelling-

30



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 9 

 

houses are members of the association and the proposed assignee is not, and is not 
willing to become, a member of the association. 
 

5.3 The Council can only rely on any of these grounds if it has within 42 days of the 
tenant's application for consent served on the tenant a notice specifying the 
ground and giving particulars of it. 
 
 

6. Virtual Visits / Photographic Evidence 
 

6.1 Virtual visits or photographic evidence should always be carried out/acquired to the 
homes of city council tenants who have applied for a mutual exchange, whether it is 
with another housing authority tenant or not, and should be carried out by the 
appropriate Housing Officer.  The purposes of the visit are as follows: 
 
 To check that both tenants have inspected each other’s property and agree to 

accept the tenancy with the dwelling in its present condition. With a mutual 
exchange, tenants will be asked to accept the property in the condition it has been 
left by the last tenant. The Council will carry out routine repairs in accordance with 
the tenancy agreement, but it will be the incoming tenant’s responsibility to repair 
any damage caused by the previous tenant. 

 
 To check that the situation at the tenant's home accords with the information given 

on the application form in terms of the people living there. 
 
 To carry out an inspection of the property to identify whether the property has 

been damaged by the tenant in any way that may suggest that the council would 
charge the tenant for any repairs. The Mutual Exchange Property Inspection 
Form should be completed during the inspection with a list being made of all 
rechargeable repairs.  

 
 The Housing Officer should make the tenant aware of any rechargeable repairs at 

the time of inspection, as this would be incorporated into a condition for agreeing 
the exchange. 

 
 To check if the accommodation is designed or adapted for handicapped or elderly 

use it will still be used for this purpose if the exchange is approved. 
 
 Where special tenancy regulations apply to certain types of dwelling, e.g. animals 

in multi-storey flats, enquiries should be made as to whether these would be 
violated if the exchange was approved. 

 
PLEASE NOTE:   
 
The Housing Officer will be required to investigate whether there has been any 
ASB experienced at the property where the tenant is proposing to move to and, 
if so, they must inform their tenant so that the tenant can make a judgment on 
whether to proceed with the exchange based on the fullest amount of 
information as possible. 
 
 

31



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 10 

 

6.2 The Housing Officer will return completed Mutual Exchange Property Inspection 
Form to the Housing Assistant. 
 

6.3 The Housing Assistant will: 
 

 Complete date received on New mutual exchange spreadsheet - Jan 2014 DO 
NOT USE ANY OTHER 

 
 Contact the applicants and complete the Mutual Exchange Covid-19 Screening 

Script with both parties.  
 

 Arrange for a virtual viewing for the exchange applicant or, if unable to do this, 
provide photos to the exchange applicant.  

 
 A face-to-face viewing, also to be arranged by the Housing Assistant, should only 

take place if both parties are still seriously considering an exchange after the 
virtual viewing has taken place. Every precaution, as detailing in Section 3 of the 
Mutual Exchange Advice for Tenants document. 

 
 Book electrical test with Aaron and tenant 

 
 If external exchange send TS53B MX Exchange Tenancy Report to the external 

council or housing association and wait for their report and decision. 
 

 Check electrical test certificate is received and test passed by telephoning Aaron 
on. Tel Ext. 3682 

 
 

7. Approving and Arranging the Date for Exchange 
 

7.1 Where both rent accounts are clear and there are no other breaches of tenancy 
conditions, an exchange can be approved quite quickly. However, if problems occur it 
may take the full period allowed. 
 

7.2 When the mutual exchange is agreed, the Housing Assistant will telephone/contact 
both tenants and arrange a date for them both to come in and sign paperwork at 
different times. If rent still owing, explain the account needs to be clear at time of sign 
up. 
  

7.3 All parties to the exchange should be requested to attend the office to complete the 
assignment. 
 
The Housing Assistant must complete the Mutual Exchange Covid-19 Screening 
Script with both parties on: 
 the day before they attend City Hall to carry out the assignment paperwork  
 the day before the move takes place  
 the day of the move 
 
Appointment needs to be no less than 1 week before they move to allow for an 
appointment for gas safety inspection, capping and uncapping of gas supplies, and no 

32



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 11 

 

more than 2 weeks after the decision is made and the start date will be the Monday 
after they move 
 
N.B: (In the case of exchange involving tenants outside the City boundary, this may 
not be possible and the arrangement for the date of this exchange should be made via 
the other tenant's Authority - this includes private tenants and tenants of any Housing 
Associations. 
 

7.4 During the interview the Housing Assistant will: 
 
 Ensure tenants understand that, as inspections cannot be carried out as normal, 

they are accepting the condition of the property when they agree to move and they 
are happy with the property they are taking on 

 
 Check that rent account is clear 

 
 Tenants sign the Deed of Assignment. (located in O:\Tenancy\3. Policy and 

procedure\Assignments (If External exchange, both tenants sign) 
 
 Sign and date the deed of assignment as a witness. 
 
 Tenants read, agree and sign the Mutual Exchange Property Inspection Form 

(If external exchange, only incoming tenant need this). 
 
 Give any incoming tenants a tenancy pack. 
 
 Give both tenants a Mutual Exchange Satisfaction Survey with a self-

addressed envelope.   
 
 Remind tenants to inform benefits and council tax of their new address 
 
 Remind tenants to read meters 

 
 Book a gas safety test, gas cap and uncap and advise Maintenance and 

Investment Team and Customers Services of date, location, time and contact 
details of tenants 

 
 Update all relevant IT systems accordingly 
 
 Update New mutual exchange spreadsheet - Jan 2014 DO NOT USE ANY 

OTHER 
 

7.5 The date for the exchange should be set for a time not exceeding two weeks from the 
time of the interview and the agreed date should be entered on the Assignment 
Notices.  All parties to the exchange must also sign the assignment documents. 
 

7.6 YOU MUST REMEMBER THAT APPLICANTS ARE ASSIGNING THEIR TENANCY 
AND NOT THE PROPERTY AND, AS SUCH, EACH PARTY IS UNDERTAKING TO 
TAKE ALL THE OBLIGATIONS OF THAT TENANCY WHICH INCLUDES ANY 
REPAIRING OBLIGATIONS, RENT OBLIGATIONS ETC. 
 

33



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 12 

 

The applicant's attention should be drawn to the section of the application forms 
where they have signed a declaration regarding the accuracy of the information they 
have provided on the application form and the fact that they are accepting each 
other's dwellings in the condition as seen. 
 

7.7 After the mutual exchange interview the Housing Assistant will send TS50 Mutual 
Exchange Letter to our new tenants 
 
 

8. Procedure for Exchanges Involving a Tenant of Another Organisation 
 

8.1 The procedure is similar to that already outlined with some slight alterations. 
 

8.2 It is necessary to obtain a home visit report from the other Landlord Authority in 
respect of their tenant.  It is usually the case that the other Authority would make a 
similar demand for a report on the Council's tenant so send one at the same time.  
 
An exchange would be approved if both Council's concerned found the contents of 
each other’s reports satisfactory.  Agreement for the exchange to go ahead would 
normally be made by telephone to enable negotiation to go ahead and save time, but 
in all other respects the same procedure should apply as outlined in Section 7. 
 

8.3 If a City Council tenant is exchanging with a tenant of a Housing Association, you 
should point out that they are likely to be taking on an Assured Tenancy which does 
not have the same rights e.g. Right to Buy.  
 
 

9  Failure to Execute the Exchange 
 

9.1  If for some reason the exchange does not take place as intended, the Housing 
Assistant should seek to clarify the situation i.e.:  
 
 has the exchange been deferred to another date?  In which case the paperwork 

and tenancy records are amended accordingly and the Gas Safety test must be 
rescheduled for the appropriate date; 

 
 has, for whatever reason, the exchange fallen through?  This can happen by one 

or both parties changing their minds; in either case the facts should be established 
immediately, and correspondence should be sent to other affected parties to clarify 
the position, (letters TS55 Mutual Exchange LA Ten Withdrawn and/or TS56 MX 
Withdrawn). The Gas Safety checks should be cancelled immediately. 

 
 If only one party refuses to complete the move (see 23 Redbourne Drive, 5 Thurlby 

Crescent).  It is imperative that Withdrawal Notices are sought and under no 
circumstances should a new application be considered until existing exchanges 
are resolved. The Gas Safety checks should be cancelled immediately. 

 
9.2  N.B:  The Council's primary role should be only to consent on exchange and not to get 

involved in disputes, but we must be aware of any future litigation in such cases. 
 
 
 

34



20 January 2021 Directorate of Housing and Investment 13 

 

10  Mutual Exchanges Without Permission 
 

10.1 Under the Housing Act 1985 tenants have the right to exchange; however all mutual 
exchanges have to have the consent of the Council in writing. 
 
The Council can only refuse to allow a mutual exchange to proceed under certain 
specified grounds (see section 5). 
 

10.2 Once information has been received that two tenants have carried out an exchange 
without permission, a Housing Officer should visit both parties to investigate the 
background. 
 

10.3 If there are no reasons why the exchange would have been refused, then the Housing 
Officer should get both parties to complete a mutual exchange application form 
immediately and permission should be granted retrospectively.  A letter should then 
be sent to both parties advising them that they had acted without permission and that 
in this instance permission has been approved.  However, in future, should they wish 
to carry out another mutual exchange they must apply properly. 
 
Arrangements should be made for Gas Safety checks to be carried out at our 
properties as soon as possible.  
 

10.4 If there are grounds which would have prevented the tenants from exchanging, then 
they must be sent a letter advising them that they have acted without permission and 
we require them to return to their original properties within 14 days.  
 
If the tenants do not return to their original properties within the 14 days then a Notice 
to Quit should be served on both parties. 
 
Once the Notices have become effective and the tenants have still not returned to 
their original tenancies, a brief should be prepared for the area housing manager and 
if Court action is approved then an application for a Court Order has to be made. 
 
 

11  Mutual Exchange Customer Satisfaction Survey 
 

11.1 The mutual exchange survey is carried out to gain information about the reasons why 
tenants carry out a mutual exchange and how satisfied they were with the service they 
received from us. 
 

11.2 It is important that we collect information about the satisfaction levels of our tenants in 
order to improve our service. 
 

11.3 A mutual exchange satisfaction survey should be handed to the new tenant on sign up 
by the Housing Assistant and returned in the self-addressed envelope provided. 
  

11.4 Completed forms should be returned to the Resident Involvement Team. 
 

 
 
 

 

35



This page is intentionally blank.



  

 
HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

1 NOVEMBER 2021 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE 2021/22 
 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND TOWN CLERK 
 

LEAD OFFICER: ALI HEWSON, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER 
 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To present Members with the work programme for 2021/22 (Appendix A). 

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 

The work programme for 2021/22 is provided for information to ensure members 
are aware of the forthcoming business at future meetings of the Housing Scrutiny 
Sub Committee. The work programme is regularly updated in consultation with the 
Chair of the committee and Chair of Lincoln Tenants Panel. 
 
The work programme includes those areas for scrutiny linked to the strategic 
priorities of the Council and housing matters, to ensure that the work of this 
committee is relevant and proportionate.  

 
3. Recommendation 

 
3.1 
 
 

That Members agree the work programme and recommend any necessary 
amendments. 

Access to Information: 
Does the report contain exempt 
information, which would prejudice the 
public interest requirement if it was 
publicised? 
 

 
No 

Key Decision No 
 

Do the Exempt Information Categories 
Apply 
 

No 

Call In and Urgency: Is the decision one 
to which Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules apply? 
 

 
No 

Does the report contain Appendices? 
 

Yes 

If Yes, how many Appendices? 
 

1 
 

Lead Officer:  Ali Hewson, Democratic Services Officer 
Telephone 873370 

 

37

Item No. 7



This page is intentionally blank.



Updated 21 Oct 2021 

 

APPENDIX A 
Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee Work Programme – Timetable for 2021/22Item  

23 June 2021 Comments 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Origin of Request 

LTP Matters 
 

Lincoln Tenants Panel Regular Verbal Update 

Housing Department Service Update – COVID19 
 

Daren Turner  

Breakdown of ASB Data -Council Houses 
 

Yvonne Fox Requested by Chair pre meet 
22 Feb 2021 

Housing Finance - Council’s Housing Out-Turn Position for 2020/21.    
 

Coleen Warren 
 

Annual Report 
 

Quarter 4 (2020/21) – Performance Report Yvonne Fox 
 

Regular Report  

6 Monthly Update on Homeless Cell Daren Turner Six Monthly Report 
Requested by Chair Meeting 
2 Nov 2020 

Legal Responsibilities in Response to Homelessness 
 

Alison Timmins Requested by Chair 

Scheduled Repairs Pilot Feedback 
 

Matt Hillman   

Work Programme 2021/22 
 

Ali Hewson Regular Report 

 

 

 

 

39



Updated 21 Oct 2021 

 

9 August 2021 
 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Origin of Request 

LTP Matters 
 

Lincoln Tenants Panel Regular Verbal Update 

Allocations Policy Update – Update on Implementation of New Member 
Policy  
 

Yvonne Fox  

Analysis of Housing Register – Update on Numbers in each Band  
 

Yvonne Fox  

Performance Indicators Update – Quarter 1 
 

Yvonne Fox Regular Report 

Work Programme 2021/22 
 

Ali Hewson Regular Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

40



Updated 21 Oct 2021 

 

1 November 2021 
 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Origin of Request 

LTP Matters 
 

Lincoln Tenants Panel Regular Verbal Update 

Quarter 2 (2020/21) – Performance and Finance Report Yvonne Fox Regular Report 
 

Review of Mutual Exchange Policy 
 

Yvonne Fox Requested by Chair/LTP 
Chair 

City of Lincoln Resident Engagement Draft Strategy 2021 
 

Chris Morton Requested by Chair 

Numbers of Properties Offered to People on Council Waiting List/Others Yvonne Fox Last Two Quarters 2020/21 
now then Regular Quarterly 
Report Required e mail 
30.07.21 

Work Programme 2021/22 Ali Hewson Regular Report 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

41



Updated 21 Oct 2021 

 

24 January 2022   

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Origin of Request 

LTP Matters 
 

Lincoln Tenants Panel Regular Verbal Update 

Homelessness and RS Update 
 

Yvonne Fox Regular Report 

LTP Review Update Report Mick Barber Chair of LTP 
 

Annual Report 

Schedule Repairs Project Update 
 

Matt Hillman  

6 Monthly Update by Director of Housing on Homeless Cell Daren Turner Six Monthly Update Req by 
Chair Meeting 2 Nov 2020 
 

Voids – Update on Numbers and Costs 
 

Yvonne Fox Regular Report 
 

Update NSAP Scheme- Delivery Costs 
 

Yvonne Fox Requested by Chair at 
meeting 25 01.21 

Numbers of Properties Offered to People on Council Waiting List/Others 
Q1 and 2 
 

Yvonne Fox 
 

Regular Quarterly Report 
Required e mail 30.07.21 

Update on Communal Areas -Sheltered Housing Scheme Yvonne Fox  Requested at meeting 9 
August 2021  

Work Programme 2021/22 Ali Hewson Regular Report 
 

 

 

 

 

42



Updated 21 Oct 2021 

 

 

 

 

14 March 2022 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Origin of Request 

LTP Matters 
 

Lincoln Tenants Panel Regular Verbal Update 

Tenancy Sustainment Project Update Keeley Johnson 12 Oct 2020 Meeting Min 86 
Update 

Quarter 3 (2020/21) – Performance Report 
 

Yvonne Fox Regular Report Quarterly 

Numbers of Properties Offered to People on Council Waiting List/Others 
Q3  
 

Yvonne Fox Quarterly Report 
e mail 30.07.21 

Allocations Policy - Update Yvonne Fox New Allocations Policy 
commenced in Jan 2021 
 

Setting of Performance Targets 2022/23 Daren Turner Annual Review 
 

Report from PH Cllr Nannestad to Performance Scrutiny Committee 
 

Cllr Nannestad Annual report  

Work Programme 2022/23 
 

Ali Hewson Regular Report 

 
Future topics: 6 Monthly Update by Director of Housing on Homeless Cell: Requested by Chair at meeting on 2 Nov 2020.  

               Results of Pilot Repair Scheme Matt Hillman Results Due March 2021 E mail in folder 1 Nov from MH 
 

43



T
his page is intentionally blank.


	Agenda
	1 Confirmation of Minutes - 9 August 2021
	5 Mutual Exchange Policy
	Mutual Exchange Procedure
	Mutual Exchange Covid-19 Procedure

	7 Work Programme Update 2021-22
	Housing Scrutiny Draft Work Programme DT 2021-22 FINAL


